
AGENDA 
Community Planning Advisory Committee 

Wednesday, Oct 6, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. 
Council Chambers, City Hall 

 

 

 

 

Mandate: The mandate of the committee is to provide feedback to applicants and advice to 
Council on land use applications, policies, regulations and initiatives referred either directly by 
Council or through the Development Approval Procedures Bylaw. 

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT (7:00pm) 
The Town of Ladysmith acknowledges with gratitude that this meeting takes place 
on the traditional, unceded territory of the Stz’uminus First Nation. 
 
Members of the public may attend meetings in person in accordance with COVID-
19 safety protocols.  Masks are mandatory.  Since space in the Council Chamber is 
limited, public attendance will be on a first-come, first-served basis as space 
permits. 
 

 
2. AGENDA APPROVAL (7:00pm) 

 
3. ADOPTION OF SEPT. 1, 2021 MINUTES* (7:05pm) 

 
4. NEW BUSINESS 

 
a. Review of updated CPAC Terms of Reference* (7:05pm) 

Christina 
 

5. COUNCIL REFERRALS (7:10pm) 
a. Zoning Bylaw Amendment application 3360-21-10 and Development Permit 

application 3060-21-16 – 431 1st Avenue* (20 minutes) 
 

b. Official Community Plan & Zoning Bylaw Amendment application 3360-20-10 
-  1301 & 1391 Rocky Creek Road* (30 minutes) 
 

6. MONTHLY BRIEFING (8:00pm) 
 File Updates 
   
7. NEXT MEETING - TBD  
 
8. ADJOURNMENT (8:05pm) 
 
 
*Attachments 



MINUTES 
Community Planning Advisory Committee 

Wednesday, September 1, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. 
via Zoom 

 

 

 

 

 
PRESENT: Acting Chair – Steve Frankel; Members – Brian Childs, Abbas Farahbakhsh, Tamara 

Hutchinson, Jason Robertson; Council Liaison – Tricia McKay; Senior Planner & 
Recorder – Christina Hovey; Planner – Julie Thompson 

 
ABSENT: Chair - Jason Harrison; Member – Jennifer Sibbald  
  
GUESTS: Applicant – Toby Seward (3360-21-03) 
  
 
The meeting was called to order at 7:05pm, acknowledging with gratitude that Ladysmith is 
located on the traditional unceded territories of the Stz’uminus People.  
 
1. ACTING CHAIR 
Steve Frankel was selected as the acting chair by unanimous consent.  

 
2. AGENDA APPROVAL 
It was moved, seconded and carried that the Agenda of September 1, 2021 be approved.  
 
3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
It was moved, seconded and carried that the Minutes of August 4, 2021 be approved.  

 
4.  NEW BUSINESS 

None. 
 

5. COUNCIL REFERRALS 
a. Façade Development Permit application 3060-21-14 – 516 1st Avenue 

Julie Thompson briefly introduced the file, the applicant was not in attendance. Tiles 
were damaged on the front of the building and need to be replaced. The paint on the 
trim of the building, cream, black, and burgundy to match the tile and existing 
awning. One CPAC member remembers that the building was updated in the 1980s 
which included the changes to the roofline. 

 
It was moved, seconded and carried that CPAC recommend that DP 3060-21-14 (516 1st Avenue) 
be approved as presented. 
 

b. Zoning Bylaw Amendment application 3360-21-03 – Lot B Russell Road 
Julie Thompson briefly introduced the file. Subdivision of the property will yield 2 
additional lots (10 rather than 8) with a change in the zone from R-1 to R-1-B which 
allows for a smaller parcel size. Toby Seward then spoke on behalf of the applicant 
and was available for questions. He said that the applicant would be required to build 
a 2/3 road which would include 7.5m of paving, a sidewalk and a cul-de-sac large 
enough to allow a fire truck or garbage truck to turn around.  

 
 



 

 2 

CPAC had a general discussion about subdivision in South Ladysmith and a desire to 
see more tree retention, greenspace, walking and cycling connections, and high 
quality housing and/or affordable housing. 

 
CPAC would prefer to have more detail on landscaping plans for this type of 
development, although this is generally not provided at the time of a zoning 
amendment. There was also discussion about whether the houses would feel 
cramped on the parcels and whether there would be adequate parking for all the 
houses and suites.  

 
It was moved, seconded and carried that CPAC recommends that Council approve rezoning 
application 3360-21-03 (Lot B – Russell Road) on the condition of provision of a tree preservation 
covenant, and provision of adequate landscaping and greenspace.  
 
6. MONTHLY BRIEFING 
 File Updates:  

 DP 3060-21-13 (32 High Street, Temperance Hotel) was approved.  
 
7. NEXT MEETING – TBD 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
It was moved, seconded and carried that the meeting be adjourned at 8:35pm.  
 
 

 __________________________________ 
        Acting Chair (S. Frankel) 
 

RECEIVED: 
 
___________________________________      
Corporate Officer (D. Smith) 



  TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

COMMUNITY PLANNING ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Type 
☒ Council Committee   ☐ Task Force 
 
Mandate  
The Community Planning Advisory Committee is a Select Committee of Council pursuant 
to section 142 of the Community Charter. 
 
The mandate of the committee is to provide feedback to applicants and advice to Council 
on land use applications, policies, regulations and initiatives referred either directly by 
Council or through the Development Approval Procedures Bylaw.   
 
The Community Planning Advisory Committee (the Committee) will provide: 

(a) Feedback to applicants and recommendations to Council on the following types of 

development applications, using the principles set out in Schedule A: 

 Amendments to the Official Community Plan (OCP) where a change in land 

use designation is proposed. 

 Amendments to the Zoning Bylaw where change in zone, land use and/or 

density is proposed. 

 Issuance of a Development Permit where new construction is proposed in 

accordance with the guidelines for the Downtown (DPA 2). 

 Development or redevelopment of land, buildings or structures that are on 

the Community Heritage Register. 

 
(b) Advice to Council or participate on a project advisory committee or task force on 

behalf of the Committee for Town-initiated land use initiatives, policies or plans, 

such as new OCP policies, a major review of the OCP, a new area plan, or 

significant amendments to the Zoning Bylaw. 

 
Authority 
This is an advisory committee. The Committee will review matters as outlined within the 
Committee Mandate, and make recommendations to Council. 
 
Membership and Terms 
The Committee will be comprised of the following: 

 Seven citizen members  

 One Council liaison to facilitate ongoing communication between Council and 

the Committee on matters referred by Council (This is an ex-officio or non-

voting role) 

 One alternate Council liaison (This is an ex-officio or non-voting role) 



  TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

Each member appointed by Council shall serve a two year term. A member appointed by 

Council shall serve a maximum of six consecutive years.  

Membership Requirements/Qualifications 
Members of the Committee will represent the diversity of the community. 
 
The seven citizen members of the Committee will represent a broad range of skills and/or 
experience in economic and social development, housing, design, and the environment, in 
areas such as: 

• Development economics  

• Ladysmith’s social issues, including housing 

• Preservation and restoration of heritage buildings 

• Architecture, urban design or landscape architecture 

• Environmental protection and climate change. 

Staff Support 
The Committee will be supported by one Development Services Department staff liaison 

(This is an ex-officio or non-voting role.) 

Reporting 
Committee recommendations related to development applications will be conveyed to 
Council through the established development review process, and generally contained in 
staff reports to Council.  Committee minutes will be provided to Council on a regular 
basis. 
 
Meeting Management 

(a) Chairperson 

• The Chairperson will be elected annually by the members.   
• The first Chairperson will be elected at the first meeting of the Committee, and 

annually thereafter at the first meeting following July 1st.   
• If the Chairperson is unable to attend a meeting, the members present will select 

an acting Chairperson for that meeting. 
• An ex-officio member many not serve as Chairperson of the Committee. 

(b) Meeting Times and Procedures 

• The Committee will meet once per month, if there are referrals to consider. 
• The meeting location will be published in the meeting agenda. 
• The Council Procedure Bylaw of the Town applies to meetings of the Committee.  
• Meetings of the Committee will be open meetings pursuant to section 93 of the 

Community Charter. 



  TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

(c) Agendas and Minutes 

• Staff in the Development Services Department, in consultation with the 
Chairperson, will prepare the meeting agenda and distribute it to the members 
of the Committee one week prior to the meeting date. 

• Recording of meeting minutes will be assigned by the Director of Development 
Services.  Draft minutes will be reviewed by the Chairperson. 

• Draft minutes will be distributed with the meeting agenda package. 
• Recommendations from the Committee will be included in the Staff Report to 

Council on the referred matter. 
• Minutes of the Committee meetings will be posted on the Town of Ladysmith 

website and included in Council agenda packages. 

 
 
Alignment with Council Strategic Priorities 
☒Employment & Tax Diversity    ☐ Natural & Built Infrastructure 
☐Watershed Protection & Water Management  ☐ Partnerships 
☒Communications & Engagement    ☐ Not Applicable 
 
 
 
 
 
Amended:  September 21, 2021 
 
 
  



  TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

Schedule A 

1. Application Review Process Principles 

(a) OCP or Zoning Bylaw Application Review 
– Staff will provide a report outlining the general proposal which will be 

included in the meeting agenda package. 
– The Community Planning Advisory Committee will: 

 Refer to the Official Community Plan and Council’s strategic 
priorities in the review of the proposal 

 Hear from the applicant and its consulting team through a brief 
presentation to summarize the proposal. 

 Consider each proposal on its own merits. 
 Provide its advice to Council in the form of a motion 

 
(b) Development Permit Application Review 

– Staff will provide a report outlining the general proposal which will be included 
in the meeting agenda package. 
 

– The Community Planning Advisory Committee will: 
 Use the design guidelines contained within the Official Community Plan 

in the review of development permit proposals.   
 Hear from the applicant’s design team through a brief presentation to 

summarize their design criteria and proposal.  
 Consider each proposal as an expression of the evolution of the 

streetscape of the Downtown and aim for the highest standard of 
excellence in the built environment.  

 Consider each proposal on its own merits. 
 Provide its advice to Council in the form of a motion or statement of 

review. 
 

 
 



 

 

CPAC REFERRAL REPORT 
 

Report Prepared By:  Julie Thompson, Planner  
Meeting Date: October 6, 2021  
File No:  DP 3060-21-16 & ZBL 3360-21-10 
Re: Façade Development Permit Application & Rezoning 

Application – 431 1st Avenue 
 
S 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
A façade Development Permit (DP) 
application and rezoning application 
have been received for the building at 
431 1st Avenue to facilitate the 
construction of a fourth residential 
dwelling unit in the attic space of the 
building. The Community Planning 
Advisory Committee (CPAC) is being 
asked to provide comments on the 
proposed façade DP and rezoning 
application per the Committee’s Terms 
of Reference.  
 
PROPOSAL: 
The building located at 431 1st Avenue 
is a two-storey commercial building 
currently containing a restaurant 
(Plantitude) and retail store (White 
Space Living) on the first storey. Three 
dwelling units are located in the second 
storey of the building. The applicant is proposing to add a fourth dwelling unit in the attic 
space above the second storey, adding dormers into the roof on each of the four building 
elevations, and two balconies on the rear elevation, requiring a façade DP application. A 
rezoning is required as the proposed floor space ratio (FSR) is larger than the maximum FSR 
permitted in the Zoning Bylaw.  
 

Figure 1 - Subject property. 



Proposed Rezoning: 
The subject property is 
zoned Downtown 
Commercial (C-2) in 
Zoning Bylaw No. 1860. 
The property was rezoned 
on a site specific basis in 
2018 to allow four 
residential dwelling units 
and to change the minimum 
size of a one-bedroom 
dwelling unit. However, 
FSR regulations were not 
amended at the time. The 
maximum permitted FSR in 
the C-2 zone is 1.0. 1 The 
proposed FSR is 
approximately 1.64. Staff 
propose amending the C-2 
zone on a site specific basis 
to allow an FSR of 1.7 for the 
subject property, to accommodate the proposed fourth dwelling unit.  
 
It is noted that the existing building is sited 2.65m from the rear parcel line and does not 
meet the required 3m rear setback. The proposed face of the rear dormer is in line with the 
face of the building. The new dormer is required to meet the current setbacks in the Zoning 
Bylaw. To accommodate this, the applicant can make a minor change to the design by 
moving the dormer back by 0.35m, or the setback can be amended as part of the rezoning 
application. 
 
Proposed Façade DP: 
The applicant is proposing to add a dormer to each of the four sides of the building, add two 
balconies at the rear, and replace the roof shingles. The proposed materials and colours are 
will match those of the existing building: the dormers will have white horizontal 
“hardiplank” exterior cladding with black trim and the new roof shingles will be black. The 
building’s cladding materials currently consist of black horizontal siding, white stucco and 
black trim. See Figure 2 for proposed front elevation. See Figure 3 for existing building. See 
attachment for all elevations. 

                                                                 
1 FSR is equal to the gross floor area of a building divided by the parcel area. 

Figure 2 - Front elevation with proposed dormers. 



 
The subject property is located in Development Permit Area 2 – Downtown (DPA 2) and 
Development Permit Area 4 – Multi-Unit Residential, therefore a DP must be issued prior 
to the proposed façade improvements. The objective of DPA 2 is to strengthen the historic 
downtown as the Town’s primary commercial area. New development in the downtown 
(including façade improvements) should make a positive contribution to revitalization of 
the area and to the greater whole of the Ladysmith experience. Where buildings will be 
altered, the guidelines support restoring historic/character defining elements. Relevant 
DPA 4 guidelines apply where the building consists of mixed residential and commercial 
uses. 
 
According to the Community Heritage Register, the building’s character defining elements 
are: 

• The building’s location within a large grouping of heritage buildings on the main 
commercial street. 

• The building’s simple form, hipped roof and two-storey height. 
• The building’s continuous commercial use for over a century. 

 
Table 1 summarizes the relevant DPA 2 and DPA 4 guidelines and staff observations: 
 

Figure 3 - Existing building at 431 1st Ave. Photo taken September 28, 2021. 



Table 1 - Summary of DPA guidelines and staff observations. 

Guideline(s) Staff Observations 
Building Design The design of the proposed improvements complements the 

design of the existing building. 
Roof Form: sloped roofs should 
provide roofline modulation to 
provide visual interest. Dormers 
supported. 

The proposed dormers add roofline modulation. They do not alter 
the overall hipped-roof form, which will remain intact.  

Windows: should be 
architecturally compatible with the 
building’s style and materials. 

Proposed windows are compatible with the existing windows on 
the second storey of the building. 

Preservation, rehabilitation & 
restoration of heritage buildings 

While dormers are proposed to be added to the hipped-roof, the 
overall hipped-roof form will remain intact. The building’s other 
character defining elements will also remain intact. The proposed 
dormers are visually compatible with the historic design of the 
existing building.  

Livability (DPA 4 guidelines) Visual privacy is maintained as the windows are high and away 
from the street. 
Private, outdoor balconies are provided off the rear of the building. 
The proposed stair within the building is not universally accessible 
but is consistent with the other 3 units, which are also accessed 
with stairs. 

 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

• Applicant submission 
• Community Heritage Register Excerpt 



darryl jonas
ARCHITECT

AIBC  |  MArch  BEDS  NZCD (arch)
P.O. Box 235   Shawnigan Lake   BC
250 743 8728        djonas@telus.net

title

date scale

revision

sheet

drawn

The Residences

Attic Addition
431 First Avenue
Ladysmith  BC

A2.2
0-

as shownSept ‘20

ATTIC &
RESIDENTIAL 
FLOOR PLAN



darryl jonas
ARCHITECT

AIBC  |  MArch  BEDS  NZCD (arch)
P.O. Box 235   Shawnigan Lake   BC
250 743 8728        djonas@telus.net

title

date scale

revision

sheet

drawn

The Residences

Attic Addition
431 First Avenue
Ladysmith  BC

A3.1
0DJ

3/16”=1.0’30 Aug ‘21

ELEVATIONS



Town of Ladysmith  |  Community Heritage Register  |  Page 33 
 

 

LADYSMITH HOTEL 
431 FIRST AVENUE 
 
Added to Register in 2018 
 
Description of Historic Place 

The Ladysmith Hotel Building is a modest, two-
storey commercial building on the east side of 
the main commercial street in Ladysmith, 
British Columbia. The historic place is confined 
to the building footprint. 
 
Heritage Value 

The Ladysmith Hotel Building’s primary 
significance is as part of a large grouping of 
mainly intact historic buildings in Ladysmith's 
commercial core. Situated in the middle of 

Ladysmith’s main commercial thoroughfare, the building forms part of a, long, almost continuous row of similarly 
proportioned historic buildings that collectively create a cohesive streetscape. 
  
Built around 1900, the Ladysmith Hotel Building is a good example of Ladysmith’s earliest commercial 
architecture.  Just over a decade later, these types of simple, wooden buildings were replaced by more substantial, 
often brick buildings, which marked the end of the pioneer building era.  The building was moved across the street 
around 1910 and, since that time, has been substantially renovated.  Its original features, including a full-width 
verandah, were removed or obscured.  The building's simple massing, hipped roof and modest ornamentation, 
however, remain intact and the building speaks directly to Ladysmith’s earliest vernacular architecture.  
 
The Ladysmith Hotel Building is valued for its association with pioneer entrepreneurs Christopher and Annie 
Stevens.  The Stevens’ built and operated this hotel and the Traveller’s Hotel and held considerable property in the 
commercial core.  The building immediately to the north, now a drugstore, was originally a commercial property 
known as the Stephens Block.   
 
Associated with Ladysmith's earliest development, the Ladysmith Hotel Building has been in continuous 
commercial use for over a century and is a significant contributor to the heritage character of the area.  
 
Character-Defining Elements 

The character-defining elements of Ladysmith Hotel Building include: 

- the building’s location within a large grouping of heritage buildings on the main commercial street 
- the building’s simple form, hipped roof and two-storey height 
- the building’s continuous commercial use for over a century 

 
 



 

 

REFERRAL REPORT 
 

Report Prepared By:  Christina Hovey, RPP, MCIP, Senior Planner 
Meeting Date: June 6, 2018  
File No:  3360-20-10 
Re: Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw Amendment 

Application for 1301 and 1391 Rocky Creek Road. 
 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The Town has received an application for an official community plan and zoning bylaw 
amendment at 1301 and 1391 Rocky Creek Road at the northern boundary of the Town. The 
conceptual plan for the 4.7ha site is for a mix of single family dwellings, townhouses, multi-family 
buildings, and some commercial. 
 
This file has been referred to CPAC for comments in accordance with CPAC’s Terms of Reference. 
The CPAC Terms of Reference provides the following guidance for reviewing OCP and Zoning 
Bylaw Applications:  

• Refer to the Official Community Plan and Council’s strategic priorities in the review of the 
proposal; 

• Hear from the applicant and its consulting team through a brief presentation; 
• Consider each proposal on its own merits.  

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 
Property Context:  
The subject property is 4.69 ha in size and located in the northeastern boundary of the Town. 
The property is between Rocky Creek Road and Ladysmith Harbour. The property is vacant, the 
majority of the property was formerly used as a campground/mobile home park and the northern 
part of the property is a rural residential property (also vacant).   
 
The property is located between an industrial area and a rural residential area as follows:  

• North: rural residential properties located within “Electoral Area H” of the Cowichan 
Valley Regional District (CVRD) 

• Southeast and in Ladysmith Harbour: Ladysmith Marina 
• South: Western Forest Products log sort  
• West: light industrial area  

 



2 
 

Figure 1: Aerial Photo of 1301 & 1391 Rocky Creek Road 

 
  
Existing OCP & Zoning  
The property is currently designated Single Family Residential in the Official Community Plan 
(Bylaw No. 1488). The foreshore and adjacent water (Ladysmith Marina) is within DPA 1 – 
Maritime.  
 
The property currently has two zones. The area closest to the northern boundary of the Town is 
in the Rural Residential zone (RU-1) and the rest of the property is in the Single Dwelling 
Residential – Small Lot B Zone (R-1-B). The following table describes what would be permitted 
under the existing zoning:  
 

Zone Maximum Density 
Permitted 

Area 
(approx.) 

Maximum number of 
Residential Parcels (approx.) 

Rural Residential Zone (RU-1) 0.4ha 1.2ha 3 parcels 
Single Dwelling Residential – 
Small Lot B Zone (R-1-B) 

372m2 3.5ha 70 parcels1 

Total -- 4.7ha 73 parcels 
 
 

                                                      
1 Excludes 25% of land allocated for interior roads and other public uses. This percentage is an estimate.  



3 
 

Figure 2: Zoning Map 

 
Proposed Development:  
The applicant is requesting site specific zoning to accommodate the concept plan (Attachment A) 
for the property – note that this is conceptual only. The proposed plan shows a mix of 
townhomes, single family homes, multi-family buildings and mixed use commercial/residential 
buildings as follows:  

Land use/Building Type Area 
(approx.) 

Number of Residential 
Units (approx.) 

Commercial Space 
(approx.) 

Single Family 1.6ha 20-24 Parcels N/A 
Townhomes 1.3ha 20-24 units  450m2 
Multi-family Buildings & Mixed 
Use Commercial/ Residential 
Buildings 

1.8ha 234-242 units (7 buildings, 
up to six storeys) 

1,200m2 

Total 4.7ha 282 (60 units per hectare) 1650m2 
 
The overall density proposed is based on the Medium Density Residential (R-3) zone which allows 
for a density of up to 60 units per hectare. However the proposal is different from what is 
permitted in the R-3 zone. The R-3 zone does not permit single family dwellings and only allows 
a maximum height of 12.0m whereas the applicant is requesting a maximum height of 18.0-
20.0m.  
 
The proposal would require an amendment to the Official Community Plan and the Zoning Bylaw.  
 



4 
 

Property OCP & Zoning History:  
The subject property was brought into the Town boundary in 2002. The southern part of the 
property was previously used as a mobile home park/campground. According to the applicant, 
the mobile home park/campground was closed in 2011.  
 
The property was zoned MP-1 Mobile Home Park in Zoning Bylaw No. 1160 which was repealed 
and replaced in 2014 with the current zoning bylaw (Bylaw No. 1860). A background report for 
the 2014 zoning review provided the following rationale for the change to the zoning on the 
property:  
 

“The previous MP-1 Mobile Home Park Zone has been renamed R-1-B Single Dwelling 
Residential – Small Lot B in reflection of the small lot single unit dwellings that currently 
exist within those areas (Note: Existing mobile home parks would be zoned MHP-1 Mobile 
Home Park).” 

 
The subject property was subdivided in 2019, and then sold to the current owners. Through the 
subdivision application, several covenants were placed on the property. The 2019 covenants 
include the following:  

• Requirement to provide public access to Ladysmith Harbour; 
• Requirement to provide pedestrian pathway along the waterfront;  
• Restriction on the use of the property as a campground or mobile home park; and 
• Confirmation of the right of the neighbouring mill to operate including the right to 

“interfere with the use and enjoyment” of the subject property due to noise, vibration, 
light, dust, odours etc. 

 
Natural Environment: 
The applicant submitted a “biophysical assessment” of the property prepared by a biologist 
(Attachment C). No watercourses were identified within the subject property  
 
The report notes that the portion of the property that was formerly a mobile home park is mostly 
cleared, but some mature trees exist along the edges of the property. The northern part of the 
property is mostly treed. There are steep slopes adjacent to the water, treed with mainly bigleaf 
maple trees. The marine area includes seagrass. Though highly impacted by surrounding and past 
development the remnant habitats on the property and in the adjacent water can provide habitat 
for some species.  
 
The recommendations of the report were mostly related to construction standards with a few 
relating to site layout, including:  

• Consider aligning the waterfront trail to…minimize vegetation removal and retain mature 
trees if possible.  

• Any future development should be designed to minimize vegetation removal and retain 
mature trees if possible.  



5 
 

• Limit foot traffic and riparian disturbance through the vegetated foreshore area by 
installing a raised staircase from the waterfront trail alignment to the downslope beach.  

 
Other Information:  
The applicant has proposed an approach to tree preservation on the property which is outlined 
in Attachment D – Tree Preservation.  
 
The applicant has provided other technical information in support of this proposal including a 
transportation impact assessment, geotechnical assessment and conceptual site servicing report.  
 
Since the property is located on the waterfront, the site has archaeological potential and 
archaeological investigations will be required prior to any development. Under the Heritage 
Conservation Act all archaeological sites, whether or not they have been recorded, are protected.  
 
DISCUSSION:  
Official Community Plan (Bylaw No. 1488):  
Section 3.1 Growth Management and section 3.8 Management of Development of the Official 
Community Plan (OCP) include some of the OCP policies that are relevant to this proposal.   
 
In 2018 the Official Community Plan was updated to recognize five key growth areas – Holland 
Creek, North Ladysmith, South Ladysmith, the Waterfront and Downtown infill (see Figure 3.1 of 
the OCP). It was estimated that based on the existing designations, these areas have the capacity 
to accommodate 6,165 additional residents. For reference, the population of Ladysmith grew by 
1,950 in the fifteen year period from 2001 to 2016. The subject property is located within the 
area identified as “North Ladysmith”.   
 
The Official Community Plan (OCP) provides the following guidance regarding appropriate 
locations for the multi-family residential designation (see Section 3.8.1 of the OCP):  
 

“Generally, residential uses in the Multi-Family Residential Designation are located 
adjacent to major (collector) roads and near or with access to local commercial services, 
schools, recreation centres and/or parks… Designation of new locations for Multi-Family 
Residential development will, in addition to the above criteria, be assessed based on 
appropriate “fit” with the neighbourhood in terms of scale, traffic and parking, and 
servicing issues.” 

 
Ongoing Official Community Plan Review:  
In 2021, the Town of Ladysmith launched a comprehensive review of the Town’s Official 
Community Plan. The revised plan will update the community’s vision for land use and will include 
updated population projections, priorities for growth, and will identify the location, amount, 
type, and density of residential growth required to meet the anticipated housing needs over a 
period of at least 5 years. Updating an Official Community Plan typically takes at least 18 months.  
 



6 
 

Land Use Compatibility:  
One challenge with this property is creating a development that is compatible with the existing 
surrounding uses. This is not an area that is currently identified for major growth or transition to 
a different land use, therefore the development for this property must “stand alone” and make 
sense in the context of the neighbouring industrial, light industrial, rural residential, and marina 
uses.  
 
Community Amenity Contribution:  
The applicant has offered to review potential neighbourhood projects to be considered for the 
amenity contribution.  
 
The Town’s community amenity contribution policy requests $1,000 per new residential unit of 
density in this case that would be approximately $209,000. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Conceptual Plan 
B. Letter from Applicant 
C. Environmental Report  
D. Tree Preservation Strategy 



A

A

B

B

D

D

E

D

D

P P

P

P
G

G

P

G

C

E

E

A

A

A

C

C

P
B

F

F

C

C

C

1301

1391

ROCKY CREEK ROAD

T2140355
UP

30
.0

30
.0

29
.9

28
.8

30

BOTTOM OF RETAINING W
ALL

1

23

4445

48

57

1.3

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.5

1.1

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.3

59

28
.1

63
UP

28
.6

28
.0

26
.7

26
.6

28
.4

28
.7

28
.8

29
.0

29
.1

29
.2

29
.5

29
.3

29
.4

29
.6

29
.7

29
.7

29
.9

28
.8

29
.1

29
.3

29
.5

29
.7

29
.9

30
.5

30
.4

30
.3

30
.2

30
.1

31
.1

30
.9

30
.4

29
.8

30
.1

30
.2

29
.4

29
.5

UP

356
UP

357
UP

30
.0

30
.0

29
.9

29
.9

30
.2

30
.4

30
.6

30
.4

30
.1

30
.1

30
.0

29
.9

29
.9

29
.8

26
.8

25
.4

24
.9

26
.3

9.4

10
.6

12
.4

15
.2

17
.4

22
.1

23
.2

28
.0

26
.5

25
.9

24
.2

24
.6

18
.6

17
.5

17
.117

.3

18
.1

20
.2

15
.9

16
.7

18
.6

21
.0

23
.5

16
.3

17
.6

15
.9

13
.3

12
.8

9.7
9.611

.0

11
.1

5.3

5.3

6.1

6.2

6.7

6.6

7.0

7.0

10
.6

9.5 8.3 6.9

27
.6

27
.0

26
.4 25

.3 24
.3

24
.0 22

.5

13
.8

14
.5

14
.7

15
.4

18
.9

19
.1

19
.7

20
.7

22
.0

29
.0

28
.8

17728
.6

29
.0

28
.9

30
.1

30
.3

28
.8

28
.7

28
.6

28
.4

26
.5

30
.1

18
.2

11
.0

12
.2

5.5

8.7

8.6

8.8

9.2

9.2

9.2
9.9

536
UP R

7.8

8.0

8.7

9.1

9.3

9.3

28
.9

a
=

4
2

. 9
5

11.38

67.38

54.75
86.41

44.51

67
.9

4

30

30

29 28

27 26 25 24

23 22

21

20

19

18

17

16

15

14

13

12

11

10

9

8

7
6

5

71.06

12.9

Easement Plan EPP87847

A

BOTTOM OF BANK

BOTTOM OF BANK

TOP OF BANK

TOP OF BANK

TOP OF BANK

LADYSMITH 
HARBOUR

SITE 
ACCESS

SITE 
ACCESS

PR
OP

OS
ED

 D
EV

EL
OP

ME
NT

 

13
01

 / 
13

91
  R

OC
KY

 C
RE

EK
 R

OA
D

LA
DY

SM
IT

H,
 B

.C
.

CL
IE

NT
: R

OC
KY

 C
RE

EK
 V

EN
TU

RE
S 

IN
C.

ISSUED:
ISSUED:
ISSUED:
ISSUED:

FEB.10 2020
FEB.12 2020
DEC.02 2020

SEPT.02 2021

bjkbjk architecture inc.
2122 Brandon Rd.

Shawnigan Lake B.C.
V0R 2W3

Ph: 250-891-1602

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. 
THESE PLANS ARE THE PROPERTY OF BJK ARCHITECTURE INC. 
TO BE USED SOLELY FOR THE PROJECT SHOWN. 
UNAUTHORIZED REPRODUCTION OR USE IN ANY MANNER IS NOT 
PERMISSIBLE.

WATERFRONT WALKWAY

BELOW BUILDING PARKING

PARKING

LEGEND

MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

COMMERCIAL / RESIDENTIAL

TOWNHOUSES - 20 UNITS

SINGLE FAMILY LOTS - 22 LOTS

PEDESTRIAN ACCESS / AMENITY

A

D

E

F
B

C

G

P

SITE DATA
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOT A, DISTRICT LOT 81,86 & 98, OYSTER DISTRICT, PLAN EPP87265, 

 PID 030-801-460

CIVIC ADDRESS:   1301 / 1391 ROCKY CREEK ROAD, LADYSMITH B.C.

LOT SIZE:    +/- 11.59 ACRES

CURRENT ZONING:   1301 ROCKY CREEK ROAD - R-1-B SINGLE DWELLING RESIDENTIAL - SMALL LOT B ZONE 
 1391 ROCKY CREEK ROAD - RU-1 RURAL RESIDENTIAL

X

CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN
0M 10M 20M 30M 40M 50M

PR1

NOTE:
THIS DRAWING IS SCHEMATIC ONLY.
ALL INFORMATION HAS BEEN DERIVED FROM DOCUMENTS PROVIDED 
BY OTHER. ALL CONDITIONS ARE APPROXIMATE.

Attachment A



CHovey
Text Box
Attachment B





















CHovey
Text Box
Attachment C













































































1

Christina Hovey

From: Toby Seward <toby.seward@shaw.ca>
Sent: September 27, 2021 12:02 PM
To: Christina Hovey
Subject: 1301/1391 Rock Creek Road, Ladysmith CPAC Meeting, 2021-October-06, Tree 

Management
Attachments: Scan2021-09-26_202524.pdf

 
 
 
 
Christina Hovey, Planner, Town of Ladysmith 
 
1301/1391 Rocky Creek Road, CPAC Meeting, 2021-October-06 
 
Re: Tree Management Plan for OCP and Rezoning Application   
 
 
Further to recent discussions regarding a tree management plan and retention of trees for this property, following is a summary 
of a tree management strategy for consideration by Ladysmith Committees and Council for the proposed OCP and rezoning of 
these properties. 
 
Attachments  
1.) Survey plan showing proposed tree retention/buffer areas 
2.) Concept site plan, showing townhouses at the waterfront, single-family dwellings in the middle of the site and multi family 
dwellings at the upper portion of the site, which will include some buildings fronting Rocky Creek Road 
3.) Aerial photograph of the site, showing existing trees and roads 
 
Tree Retention/Buffers 
North - Trees along this property line are planned to be retained as a buffer between the development and property owners to 
the north 
East - Trees at the waterfront are planned to be retained, subject to review of the location of a public walkway that is required 
by the town as part of the development 
South - Trees along this property line are planned to be retained as a buffer  
West - Trees along Rocky Creek Road are planned to be retained, subject to road access and  location of buildings fronting the 
road  
 
Impacts on Tree Retention 
1.) Location of access roads from Rocky Creek Road and the internal road system 
2.) Installation of servicing infrastructure 
3.) Proposed building footprints 
4.) Safety, wind and tree health  
5.) Other impacts to be identified by consultants and town staff 
 
Consultants  
The owners have retained Sarah Bonar of Aquaparian Environmental (who carried out the initial environmental assessment for 
the site) and Peter Brinson, an arborist with VI Tree Service, to jointly work on a tree management plan for the property. The 
consultants initial site visit is scheduled for 2021- September-28 and will include a review of the trees on site, potential buffer 
widths, tree species, diameter, height, health, safety issues and other related issues that will be included in a tree management 
plan.  

CHovey
Text Box
Attachment D



2

 
Development Process 
1.) Consideration of OCP and Rezoning Application - Ladysmith Council, committees and staff will review the land use 
amendments proposed for the property, as well as receive input from internal and external agencies and the public. This review 
will be based the initial site plan prepared for the property, along with consultants reports for survey, civil engineering, 
geotechnical engineering, environmental assessment, traffic impact assessment and archeology assessment. A tree management 
plan will be completed at subdivision and development permit stages, as plans for the property are developed in more detail. 
 
2.) Subdivision - Providing the OCP and rezoning application is approved, the consultants will prepare a subdivision plan, that 
will allow the project to be built out in various phases. As part of this subdivision process, roads and servicing infrastructure 
will be designed and installed, taking into consideration the impact these installations will have on the trees on site. 
 
3.) Development Permit - Once the subdivision plan has been approved, development permit applications will be submitted for 
the project, including form and character design of the townhouses and multi family developments. As part of the development 
permit process, the architect and consultants will finalize infrastructure design, building designs and footprints, which will 
include tree retention and buffers proposed in the tree management plan. 
 
4.) Building Permits - Permits will be taken out to allow construction to take place in various phases. 
 
Tree Management Plan 
Establishing and implementing a tree management plan will be an ongoing process throughout the development of the property 
and will need to be reviewed as infrastructure and building plans for the property are further established. The owners and their 
consultants plan to work with Ladysmith staff to identify processes and scheduling, to ensure the tree management plan is 
followed at the various development stages noted above.  
 
Regards 
Toby Seward 
Seward Developments Inc 
 
 
 
 
 








	h. 2021.10.06 CPAC Agenda Package
	h. 2021.10.06 CPAC Agenda
	g. 2021.09.01 DRAFT CPAC Minutes
	CPAC Terms of Reference_UPDATED 2021.09.24
	 The Chairperson will be elected annually by the members.
	 The first Chairperson will be elected at the first meeting of the Committee, and annually thereafter at the first meeting following July 1st.
	 If the Chairperson is unable to attend a meeting, the members present will select an acting Chairperson for that meeting.
	 An ex-officio member many not serve as Chairperson of the Committee.
	 The Council Procedure Bylaw of the Town applies to meetings of the Committee.
	1. Application Review Process Principles
	(a) OCP or Zoning Bylaw Application Review
	– Staff will provide a report outlining the general proposal which will be included in the meeting agenda package.
	– The Community Planning Advisory Committee will:
	 Refer to the Official Community Plan and Council’s strategic priorities in the review of the proposal
	 Hear from the applicant and its consulting team through a brief presentation to summarize the proposal.
	 Consider each proposal on its own merits.
	(b) Development Permit Application Review

	2021.09.28 CPAC report package DP 21-16 ZBL 21-10

	CPAC Report
	SR CPAC MEMO
	2021.09.02 Conceptual Site Plan - ZBL 20-10
	PR1-SITE PLAN
	Viewport-4
	Viewport-5
	Viewport-6
	Viewport-7
	Viewport-8


	2020.12.02 project description ltr with attachments ZBL 20-10 1301& 1391 Rocky Cr Rd
	2020.12.02 project description ltr ZBL 20-10 1301& 1391 Rocky Cr Rd.pdf
	20201204094032316.pdf
	20201204094043899.pdf
	20201204094055333.pdf

	2020.01.20 biophysical assessment AQUAPARIA ENV CONS ZBL 20-10 1301 & 1391 Rocky Creek
	20201204094438405.pdf
	20201204094458987.pdf

	2021.09.27 Tree Preservation Strategy
	2021.09.27 Tree Preservation Strategy
	tree attachments





